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This exhibition helps redress the balance of attention paid to public 
spaces from the point of view of the user – a great deal – and from the 
point of view of the designer – considerably less. Consequently, we 
concentrate here on the role of design and the designer in the production 
of spaces that are designed to be public spaces, ensembles of buildings 
and spaces, and not open green areas, or streets intermittently taken  
over for celebrations or political protest. In this way, the ‘co-creation’  
of a public space through the designer at one end of the process, and  
the user at the other, can be better understood. 

The mid-20th century is a powerful lens through which to view both the 
debates around our public spaces today, and public spaces themselves. 
For the first and perhaps the last time in this country, state and architect 
in the mid 20th century were engaged in a radical partnership: to build 
something new on a national scale, or at least to radically reconsider  
the old. As a result, architects had the opportunity to intervene on a heady 
scale, and had no hesitation in doing so, designing for rather than with 
their users. 

Architects in Brazil also had the support of the state, though  
only a fraction of them were its direct employees. Nor was Brazil 
reconstructing itself after a World War. Instead it was constructing itself 
as a modern state, pursuing ‘developmentalism’ under both President 
Juscelino Kubitschek’s democratic government (1956 – 1961), and under 
the military dictatorship (1964 – 1985). São Paulo during this period grew 
exponentially. Although new housing, schools and hospitals for all were 
important elements of this modernity, at least as important were public 
spaces, where the state could project its image. There are quite a number 
of these spaces – Praça da Sé, Anhangabaú, Praça Roosevelt etc.  
– all contributing to an impression of a modern, forward-looking state.

The exhibition uses four themes, Continuity, Innovation, Memory  
and Legibility, to explore both the design of public spaces and the 
understanding of those designs – why they are the way they are –  
a question that could and should be asked about everything in our built 
environment.

Introduction

London and São Paulo

Space 
cut from a solid

A solid 
standing in space



We tend to think of hard-paved public 
spaces in terms of squares, or at least 
open spaces formed by the buildings 
around them. This creates the 
traditional urban pattern of solid  
and void, with the voids cut out of  
a continuous urban fabric. This is the 
‘DNA’ of public spaces, passed down 
over centuries in European cities,  
and reproduced in Europe’s colonies. 

In contrast, the dominant model 
of spatial organisation for Modernists 
in the 1920s and 30s was that of 
universal space, rather than particular 
places; an abstract and infinitely 
extendable grid on which sat buildings-
as-objects. In the worst cases, this  
led to ‘leftover space’, of little use  
to anyone. In the best cases, it led to 
exciting new combinations of building 
and public space.

Designed between 1962 and 1990,  
and shifting sites from Bloomsbury  
to the Euston Road, the British Library  
clearly demonstrates the ‘other tradition’  
of Modernism which Colin St John Wilson 
championed, a Modernism enriched  
by references to architecture’s past.  
Not exclusively, however: the design 
was also generated by the client’s 
requirements, that is, from ‘a rigorous 
factual appreciation of the required 
conditions and not, as so often the case, 
the imposition of preconceived forms 
and ideas upon the real desires and 
necessities at issue’ (M.J. Long).  
Leslie Martin and Colin St John  
Wilson produced the initial feasibility 
study (1962 – 1964) for the Library  
on a site in Bloomsbury opposite the 
British Museum. After prolonged local 
opposition to the size of the project,  
the site was moved to St. Pancras  
in 1976, and Martin left the project.  

Museo de Arte São Paulo

The British Library
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and Partners



St. John Wilson continued with six 
partners, in particular his wife, M.J. Long, 
who shared client liaison and overall 
design work with him. From its earliest 
iterations onwards, the scheme for the 
new library always included provision 
for public space in the form of a ‘piazza’, 
which when intended for Bloomsbury, 
echoed the forecourt in front of the 
British Museum, and then remained  
as an organizational idea when the site 
was moved.

Car

Traditional

Modernist

Pedestrian

The 1950s were a period of great expansion 
for the city of São Paulo, accelerating  
a process begun in the late 19th century. 
Born and trained in Italy, Lina Bo Bardi was 
one of a number of European architects 
escaping the devastation in Europe after 
World War II, and bringing with them ideas 
about architectural Modernism that chimed 
with views and work of many Brazilian 
architects. Bo Bardi’s discussions with 
the Director of MASP, Francisco de Assis 
Chateaubriand, about a museum of art 
‘for the people’, started in the 1950s, and 
finished in 1968 with the opening of MASP. 
Bo Bardi wanted a design that would 
promote the public’s relationship with art, 
a public unfamiliar with museums, a rarity 
in the city at that time. ‘I sought a simple 
architecture able to quickly communicate 
what was once called monumental. That 
is the sense of a collective, of civic dignity’ 
(Lina Bo Bardi). The life of this collective 

Museo de Arte São Paulo 
(MASP), 1957 – 1968 

Lina Bo Bardi

was to be acted out in the dramatic public 
space: ‘With MASP… I would like people  
to be there, to see outdoor exhibitions,  
and talk, listen to music and watch movies.  
I would like children to be there and  
play under the morning and the late 
afternoon sun, and even music bands  
and everyday bad taste’ (Lina Bo Bardi). 



In 1933, influenced by Le Corbusier’s 
ideas for the ‘functional city’, the 
Congrés International d’Architecture 
Moderne (CIAM) produced the Athens 
Charter. This proposed new cities 
that were efficient, healthy, and zoned 
according to activity (residential, 
commercial etc.). The pedestrian and 
the car were to move at their own 
speeds, unimpeded by the other, and 
each would have its own spatial realm. 

In the UK, from Abercrombie 
and Forshaw’s ‘County of London 
Plan’ (1943) onwards, centralised 
control of roadway development, and 
the decision to divide pedestrians 
and cars grew firmer, both among 
architects and planners. In São Paulo, 
as traffic grew through the 1950s and 
60s, similar spatial solutions were 
explored. In 1971, the city government 
created EMURB – Empresa Municipal 
de Urbanização – a department to 
deal with São Paulo’s rapid growth. 
Among EMURB’s studies was the 1974 
proposal by the leader of the Paulista 
School of Brutalist architecture: João 
Batista Vilanova Artigas. Much as 
Modernists did in London at the time, 
he suggested a vertical separation 
between pedestrians and traffic. 

Like so many of São Paulo’s 20th century 
public spaces, the CCSP (1976 – 1982) 
began as an infrastructural intervention: 
the addition of a new metro stop, 
Vergueiro Station, a kilometre from  
the centre of the city. From the brief of 
the São Paulo Culture Secretary, Mario 
Chamie, and the competition-winning 
design by architects Prado Lopes and 
Telles, came one of the most complex 
and interesting public spaces in São 
Paulo. Graduates in 1966 of the School  
of Architecture, Mackenzie University, 
Prado Lopes and Telles were two 
generations below João Batista Vilanova 
Artigas (1915 – 1985), leader of the 
Paulista School of Brutalist Modernism. 
However, although they were identified 
with it, they had their own ideas about 
what and how to build, and for whom.

The 1970s were a particularly 
repressive period during the Brazilian 
dictatorship (1964 – 1985), and a non-
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Existing

hierarchical, easily accessible space  
was therefore a political as well  
as spatial statement: ‘It is possible  
to censor theatre, music and literature.  
But [the dictatorship] was unable to 
censor architecture because it is difficult 
to understand the intentions contained 
within a design. We made a space  
to bring people together, a democratic 
building developed under a military 
dictatorship!’ (Prado Lopes).

The South Bank Arts Centre (1960 – 1968) 
was built after the Royal Festival Hall 
(1951) and before the National Theatre 
(1976). It is a leading example of British 
Brutalism, and consists of the Queen 
Elizabeth Hall, the Purcell Room, and 
the Hayward Gallery. The clients were 
public: the London County Council (LCC) 
and the Arts Council, and so were the 
architects. In fact the LCC was both client 
and architect. 

Norman Engleback (1927 – 2015) 
was the lead architect on the design of 
the Centre, with a large team behind him, 
including three members of Archigram: 
Ron Herron, Warren Chalk, and Dennis 
Crompton. Almost half of all English 
architects were directly employed  
by the state at this time, and Engleback 
had been brought into the LCC 
Architect’s Department in the 1950s  
by Leslie Martin, then chief architect  

to the LCC. The Centre was constructed  
to a very high material standard:  
‘The idea at the time was that people 
deserved the best, and after the war and 
austerity, they jolly well did’ (Engleback).

When asked in 1966 why the 
Southbank Centre looked the way  
it did, Warren Chalk, who was in charge  
of designing the walkways, said: ‘The 
original basic concept was to produce an 
anonymous pile, subservient to a series 
of pedestrian walkways, a sort of Mappin 
Terrace for people instead of goats’ 
(Mappin Terrace, London Zoo, a reinforced 
concrete landscape for animals).

Infill Tabula rasa

South Bank Arts Centre  
(SBAC), 1960 – 1968 

London County Council  
Architect’s Department



Public spaces are repositories of 
memory, physical evidence of a city’s 
evolution, and sites of people’s pasts,  
as citizens and private individuals:  
the square we marched to in  
a demonstration; the plaza we met  
our friends in after school.

Public spaces change as cities 
grow and priorities shift. The memories 
attached to one version of a public 
space can be bulldozed away, their 
previous incarnations accessible only  
in our recollections or in archives.

Add to this the desire in Brazil 
in the 1950s to build a modern state, 
and the desire in Britain to build a new 
world after the devastation of World 
War II, and conditions were perfect for 
a large scale erasure of the urban past, 
and its replacement with Modernist 
development.

This tabula rasa or ‘clean 
slate’ approach deliberately ignored 
traditional ways of organising space  
in cities, and traditional building types. 
This often meant large amounts of  
urban fabric – and their social networks 
– were lost instead of renewed. 
But it also meant that unhealthy, poor 
quality urban fabric was cleared for 
new housing, schools, and public 
realms. The erasure of Modernist work 
by contemporary regeneration can 
therefore be as regrettable as the loss  
of older architecture and urban design 
to Modernist interventions. Something 
we are now learning.

Vale do Anhangabaú is a linear public 
space on a heroic scale, the result of  
a 1981 competition held by the city of  
São Paulo. It is also a palimpsest of  
the development of São Paolo since the 
early 20th century, from ‘capital of coffee’ 
in the 19th and early 20th centuries to 
industrialised metropolis in the mid 20th. 
Anhangabaú is also a memorial to the 
struggle between public interest and 
private profit, public space and road.  
In 1908, the valley belonged to the Barão  
tea plantation. By the 1960s, it was  
a multi-lane highway and barrier between 
the Old Centre and the expanding city  
on the other side of the valley.

Early 20th century
Between 1907 and 1917, there  

were several projects for Anhangabaú. 
The first, in 1907, by the engineer and 
city councillor Augusto Telles, sought 
to establish the valley as a public park. 
Another in 1911 by the architect Samuel 
Neves, proposed to exploit increased  
land values with a Parisian style boulevard 
through the valley. Finally in 1917, 
the French planner Joseph Bouvard 
succeeded with a compromise of public 
park below and privately developed 
Beaux-Arts buildings above.

Mid 20th century
As the 20th century progressed  

and São Paulo continued to expand,  
new projects were proposed, all reflecting 
the desire for a modern metropolis that 

Elephant and Castle Shopping Centre
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would accommodate a modern transport 
infrastructure. Gradually, Anhangabaú 
ceased to be a park, and by the 1960s, had 
become a major and problematic highway 
instead. By the 1970s, pedestrians 
and cars were directly confronting one 
another.

Late 20th century
In 1981, the then mayor of São 

Paulo, Reynaldo de Barros, held a national 
competition to solve the problem of 
Anhangabaú. Like many of the entries,  
the winning project by landscape Rosa 
Kliass and architect and urbanist Jorge 
Wilheim prioritised the return of a public 
space to the city, running the highway 
underneath a gigantic concrete lid.  
On January 25, 1992, the new space was 
officially opened, and the Modernist vision 
of a gleaming high speed metropolis gave 
way to a return to a park.

of post-war reconstruction, clearing 
bomb damage and slums. The Ministry 
of Transport, inadvisedly leading the 
redevelopment, delivered a double 
roundabout system not much liked by  
the architects and planners involved, and 
the LCC was left to distribute parcels of 
land around them, to be developed both 
by the state and by private developers. 

The Elephant and Castle Shopping 
Centre is a repository of urban memory 
both of post-war Modernist urbanism,  
and of the local community. Designed 
by the husband and wife team Paul 
Boissevain and Barbara Osmond, they 
were inexperienced in shopping centre 
design, but were selected for their bold 
use of a new typology – the covered 
American shopping mall. It was the third 
of its kind in Europe, and pointed the way  
to contemporary shopping centres like 
Westfield London, providing a generous 
landscaped plaza outside as well  
as a large light-filled atrium inside with  
what was intended to be a retractable roof. 
When the developers had to trim their 
budget, the architects’ urbane intentions 
suffered.

Neither the developers, Willets,  
nor the LCC had researched sufficiently  
to deliver what they claimed would be  
‘the Piccadilly of the south’, intended 
to attract shoppers from the West End 
as well as locally. The community’s 
memories of the decline of the Shopping 
Centre and rise of the outdoor market  
in the 1990s begin here, with a mismatch 
between the region-wide shoppers 
Willets expected, and the local residents 
who actually shopped at the Centre and 
successfully made it their own.

Private

Semi-publicPublic

Semi-private

Member of public

The Elephant and Castle Shopping Centre 
was a centrepiece in the radical post-
war redevelopment of south London, 
sweeping away the 19th century district 
that preceded it. In its turn, it will be swept 
away by the current regeneration of the 
entire Modernist Elephant and Castle 
area, which includes the Shopping Centre 
and the Heygate Estate.

Elephant and Castle was one of 
the Comprehensive Development Areas 
masterplanned by the London County 
Council (LCC) as part of the wider project 

Elephant and Castle  
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Public space needs to be readable as 
public in order to succeed. People need 
to see evidence that they are welcome 
there. The first and simplest visual cue 
is the sight of other members of the 
public passing through or occupying 
a space. Many other visual cues are 
provided by design, and can sometimes 
be accidentally – or deliberately – 
ambiguous.

This ambiguity can lead to  
a richer experience for the user – public 
space can become semi-public space, 
and private space, semi-private. This 
RIBA gallery is a good example of semi-
public space. Or is it semi-private? 
Whatever the visual and programmatic 
cues given to visitors to allow them  
to read a space accurately, they can, 
and often do, subvert design intentions, 
or interpret them in unexpected ways. 

Ambiguity can also lead to 
uncertainty for the user – am I allowed  
in there or not? This uncertainty  
can result in an empty public space.  
Is this a sign of failure or simply  
a different, more reflective kind of  
space? ‘For a cognitive society, one  
that would be in control of its direction,  
spaces need to be calm, urbane,  
even a little empty’ (Alison and 
Peter Smithson, The Charged Void: 
Urbanism). A provocative thought.

London’s Economist Plaza (1959 – 1964) 
and São Paulo’s Centro Empresarial  
Itaú Conceição (1975 – 2005) are  
examples of public space designs that 
take advantage of ambiguity, with semi-
public and semi-private areas adding 
complexity to public and private ones. 
They were both commissioned by private 
clients – The Economist Newspaper Ltd. 
and Itaú Unibanco respectively – and 
designed by private architects – Alison 
and Peter Smithson with Maurice Bebb
in London, and Jaime Marcondes 
Cupertino, José Gennaro, and Francisco 
Javier Manubens in São Paulo for
Phase 1 of the development, which 
delivered the distinctive landscaping.

The ensemble of Economist 
Buildings and Plaza were designed by 
Peter and Alison Smithson with the more 
experienced architect, Maurice Bebb, 
acting as advisor. The Smithsons were 
founding members of Team X, a dissident 
group within CIAM (Congrés International 
d’Architecture Moderne), who, like many 
others in CIAM post-war, questioned 
the Functional City of pre-war Modernist 
urbanism – efficient, rational, its functions 
zoned, its civic dimension largely missing.

The client was keen to set their 
project apart from the more usual 1960s 
podium and slab office development,  
and the Smithsons produced an 
asymmetrical arrangement of three 
buildings around a raised public space –  
the ‘Plaza’. In keeping with their urban 

The Economist Plaza

Centro Empresarial Itaú Conceição

The Economist Plaza 
1959 – 1964 

Alison and Peter Smithson



ideas, the Smithsons produced a design 
that both responded to, and transcended 
place, was part of St James and part  
of a new urban typology; one that turned 
the traditional urban block inside out, 
and opened it up to light, air – and more 
adventurous members of the public.  
In the Smithsons’ words: ‘The group 
looks forward to other groups’, ‘towards 
the collectivity of the yet unbuilt’  
(The Charged Void: Urbanism). This 
hints at what would come to dominate 
their famous 1957 Berlin Haupstadt 
competition entry, which proposed  
‘a more general system of pedestrian 
ways at various levels’, ensuring  
‘a minimum of conflict between 
pedestrian and vehicular needs’. (See 
INNOVATION, the Smithsons on film.) 

Centro Empresarial Itaú Conceição is  
the headquarters of the Brazilian bank 
Itaú Unibanco, and was built in three 
phases: 1982 – 1985, 1985 – 1990 and 
2000 – 2005. Jaime Cupertino was the 
only architect to work on all three phases, 
and Phase 1, with José Gennaro and 
Francisco Javier Manubens produced 
the elaborate multi-level landscape that 
characterises the design. 

Centro Empresarial Itaú 
Conceição, 1982 – 2005 

Phase 1:  
Jaime Marcondes 

Cupertino, José Gennaro, 
Francisco  

Javier Manubens
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58	 Shopping Centre atrium, showing the two levels, 1965. 
RIBA Collections

59	 A ramped entrance to the subway system today. Jane Hall
60	 Entrance to subway system from the Shopping Centre 

Plaza, 1969. Architectural Press Archive / RIBA Collections
61	 Intention: the developer’s brochure showing  

the landscaped plaza of the Shopping Centre as a place  
to go to as well as go through. Southwark Local History 
Library and Archive

62	 As built: the Shopping Centre plaza as built,  
without most of its landscaping, and nowhere to sit.  
Architectural Press Archive / RIBA Collections

Theme 4: Legibility

63	 Granary Square, public and semi-public spaces.  
Central St Martin’s, semi-private and private spaces.  
Clare Hamman

64	 Alison and Peter Smithson, the Economist Plaza, 1964. 
Architectural Press Archive / RIBA collections

65	 Alison and Peter Smithson, 1950s. EmmaDavies 
 / Evening Standard / Getty Images

66	 The Economist Plaza today, showing a return  
to the original intention of displaying public art. Jane Hall

67	 Drawings of the Economist Plaza by Gordon Cullen, 
emphasising the contextual ‘Townscape’ aspect  
of the design. RIBA Collections

68	 Top: aerial view of the Economist Buildings Economist 
Buildings in their St. James context. Bottom: A witty 
photomontage of the open block typology proliferating 
across St. James by George Kasabov, an architect then 
working in the Smithsons’ office. George Kasabov

69	 Ludwig Karl Hilberseimer, Highrise City (Hochhausstadt): 
Perspective View: North-South Street, 1924. The Art 
Institute of Chicago / Art Resource, NY / Scala, Florence

70	 Aerial view of Centro Empresarial Itaú Conceição.  
Jaime Cupertino

71	 Jaime Marcondes Cupertino (left) and Javier Manubens. 
Jaime Cupertino

72	 São Paulo today, a wall dividing favela from private 
development. Oxfam / Tuca Vieira

73	 Section through the Economist site from St. James  
to Bury St. showing raised podium. Jane Hall

74	 The ramp up to the podium from St. James. Jane Hall
75	 Plan of the Economist Buildings and Plaza. Jane Hall
76	 A public route to the bus station through the privately 

maintained park. Jane Hall
77	 The circular public space outside the Conçeicão metro 

station, a favourite gathering place, and clearly public.  
Jane Hall

78	 Mies van der Rohe, the Seagram Building and plaza,  
New York, 1958. Ezra Stoller / Esto

79	 Close up of the Seagram Building plaza, New York,  
1958. Ezra Stoller / Esto

80	 The Social Life of Small Urban Spaces, William H. Whyte 
(1980): In providing so many places to sit, walk and  
meet in Centro Empresarial Itaú Conceição, Jaime 
Cupertino acknowledged the influence of the urbanist 
William H. Whyte, who studied the effect of design  
on the use of public space. Whyte’s film analyses  
why he Seagram Building plaza is a popular success.  
Direct Cinema / Alexandra Whyte

81	 Model of the Economist Buildings and Plaza as built, 
opening up the traditional perimeter block to the public. 
Lee 3D Ltd.

We are indebted to Pablo Herenú of Hereñú+Ferroni Architects for his research into the design and  
political history of Vale do Anhangabaú. His thesis is available at www.hf.arq.br/pesquisa/sentidos-do-anhangabau
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